

The Stability Region for Schur Stable Trinomials with General Complex Coefficients

Gerardo Barrera¹ · Waldemar Barrera² · Juan Pablo Navarrete²

Received: 11 May 2023 / Revised: 8 September 2023 / Accepted: 15 November 2023 © The Author(s) 2023

Abstract

In this paper, we characterize the stability region for trinomials of the form $f(\zeta) := a\zeta^n + b\zeta^m + c, \zeta \in \mathbb{C}$, where *a*, *b* and *c* are non-zero complex numbers and *n*, $m \in \mathbb{N}$ with n > m. More precisely, we provide necessary and sufficient conditions on the coefficients *a*, *b* and *c* in order that all the roots of the trinomial *f* belongs to the open unit disc in the complex plane. The proof is based on Bohl's Theorem (Bohl in Math Ann 65(4):556–566, 1908) introduced in 1908.

Keywords Autoregressive processes · Bohl's Theorem · Characteristic polynomial · Hurwitz polynomial · Linear delay difference equation · Localization · Projective plane · Trinomial equation · Schur polynomial · Stability

Mathematics Subject Classification Primary 12D10 · 26C10 · 30C15; Secondary 93D23 · 11B37

Contents

1	Introduction
	1.1 The Stability Problem
	1.2 Preliminaries
	1.3 Main Results and Its Consequences
2	Proof of the Main Result: Theorem 1.3
	2.1 Arithmetic Properties for Open Intervals

 Gerardo Barrera gerardo.barreravargas@helsinki.fi
 Waldemar Barrera

> bvargas@correo.uady.mx Juan Pablo Navarrete jp.navarrete@correo.uady.mx

¹ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Helsinki, P.O. Box 68, Pietari Kalmin katu 5, 00014 Helsinki, Finland

² Facultad de Matemáticas, Universidad Autónoma de Yucatán, Anillo Periférico Norte Tablaje CAT 13615, Mérida, Yucatán, Mexico

2.2 Proof of Theorem 1.3	
Appendix A. Parity Argument and Projection to the Real Case	
A.1. Proof of Corollary 1.14	
Appendix B. Bohl's Theorem	
References	

1 Introduction

1.1 The Stability Problem

The computation and the quantitative location of the roots of a given polynomial are ubiquitous in the applications and it has been produced a vast literature in mathematics and in applied mathematics in recent years. It is well-known that a linear discrete dynamical system, for instance linear recurrence equations which are widely used in applied mathematics and computer science for modeling the future of a process that depends linearly on a finite string, is asymptotically stable if and only if its corresponding characteristic polynomial has all its roots with complex modulus strictly smaller than one. When a polynomial has all its roots with complex modulus strictly less than one, the polynomial is called a *Schur stable polynomial*. The notion of Schur stable polynomials is originated in the study of stability of dynamical systems, in particular, in the so-called control theory.

Recall that a general linear recurrence equation with constant coefficients and two delays is defined as follows. For a given initial string of complex numbers $\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_{n-1}$, let $(\varphi(t))_{t \ge n}$ be the unique solution of the discrete-time initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} X(t) = -bX(t - (n - m)) - cX(t - n) & \text{for } t \in \{n, n + 1, n + 2, \dots, \}, \\ X(t) = \varphi_t & \text{for } t \in \{0, 1, \dots, n - 1\}, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where *b* and *c* are non-zero complex numbers and $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ with n > m. The time-shifts n - m and *n* in (1.1) are called delays. It is well-known that the characteristic polynomial associated to (1.1) is given by $T(\zeta) := \zeta^n + b\zeta^m + c, \zeta \in \mathbb{C}$, and then the dynamical system (1.1) is asymptotically stable if and only if *T* is a Schur stable polynomial. For more details about the theory of linear recurrence equations, we refer to the monographs [29, 39, 52].

Discrete-time stable dynamical systems of the form (1.1) with real coefficients have been broadly used in modeling, for instance, they have been used in Numerical Analysis for the numerical discretization of the so-called linear delay differential equation, in Mathematical Biology for the linearization process of various discrete population growth models, in Financial Mathematics to determine the interest rate, the amortization of a loan and price fluctuations, in Probability for the so-called first step analysis of Markov chains, in Statistics for the autoregressive linear model, see [9, 20, 23, 29, 47, 60]. While systems of the form (1.1) with complex coefficients naturally appear in the study of systems of linear recurrence equations such as in the linearized model for the discrete-time Hopfield network with a single delay, or in local stability analysis of some discrete-time population dynamics models, see [33, 41, 44, 50].

Since the stability for linear recurrence equations with constant coefficients and two delays is equivalent to the Schur stability of trinomials, in this paper we parametrize the stability region for trinomials of the form

$$f(\zeta) := a\zeta^n + b\zeta^m + c, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C},$$
(1.2)

where *a*, *b* and *c* are complex numbers and *n*, $m \in \mathbb{N}$ with n > m. In other words, we provide necessary and sufficient conditions on the complex coefficients *a*, *b* and *c* in order that all the roots of *f* belongs to the open unit disc in the complex plane. In that case, we say that (1.2) is a *Schur stable trinomial*. The latter is straightforward when some of the coefficients *a*, *b* or *c* are zero. Indeed, we observe that

$$f \text{ is a Schur stable trinomial if and only if} \begin{cases} |c|/|b| < 1 & \text{for } a = 0 \text{ and } b \neq 0, \\ |c| < 1 & \text{for } a = 0 \text{ and } b = 0, \\ |c|/|a| < 1 & \text{for } a \neq 0 \text{ and } b = 0, \\ |b|/|a| < 1 & \text{for } a \neq 0, b \neq 0 \text{ and } c = 0, \end{cases}$$

where $|\cdot|$ denotes the complex modulus. Therefore, without loss of generality, we always assume that *a*, *b* and *c* are non-zero complex numbers.

The celebrated works of P. Ruffini, N. H. Abel and É. Galois yield that for $n \ge 5$ generically there is no formula for the roots of (1.2) in terms of radicals. We recommend [8, 48, 59] for treatises on polynomials and [57] for a brief history of solving polynomials. Trinomials of the form (1.2) with real coefficients have been the subject of numerous qualitative and quantitative studies because of their theoretical importance as well as their applications, see [6] and the list of references therein. There is a vast literature reporting the study of location of the roots of trinomials when its coefficients are real numbers including series representations of the roots and the shape of the stability region, [2, 3, 9–15, 18, 19, 22, 24, 26–28, 32, 34–38, 43, 45, 46, 49, 50, 54, 55, 58, 61, 62, 65, 67]. In the case of trinomials with complex coefficients, lower and uppers bounds for the moduli of their roots have been also obtained in [18, 25, 43, 50, 56, 66]. Trinomials have been also studied from the geometrical, topological and dynamical perspectives, see for instance [1, 4, 5, 7, 30, 31, 40, 42, 51, 53, 63, 64] and the references therein. Using the Cohn reduction degree method (see [21] or Lemma 42.1 in [48]), the stability region for trinomials with real coefficients is given in [15]. Recently, the authors in [14] apply Bohl's Theorem (see Theorem 1.1 below) for trinomials with real coefficients and obtain the results in [15]. Nevertheless, to the best of our knowledge, using Bohl's Theorem for the case with complex coefficients has not been fully characterized and it does not follow straightforwardly from the real case, see Sect. 1.2 for an explanation of the difficulties on the counting argument in the complex case.

1.2 Preliminaries

Along this manuscript, n > m > 0 are fixed. Our main tool is Bohl's Theorem given in [7]. Bohl's Theorem gives the number of roots of (1.2) in an open ball of radius *r* centered at the origin according to whether the non-negative numbers $|a|r^n$, $|b|r^m$ and |c| are the lengths of the sides of some triangle (including degenerate triangles), or not. Bohl's Theorem reads as follows:

Theorem 1.1 (Bohl's Theorem for trinomials [7, 14]) Assume that *n* and *m* are coprime numbers. Let r > 0 and assume that $|a|r^n$, $|b|r^m$ and |c| are the side lengths of some triangle (it may be degenerate except for the case below). Let ω_1 and ω_2 be the opposite angles to the sides with lengths $|a|r^n$ and $|b|r^m$, respectively. Then the number of roots of (1.2) in the open disc of radius r, $D_r := \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < r\}$, is equal to the number of integers in the open interval $(P - \omega(r), P + \omega(r))$, where

$$P := \frac{n(\beta - \gamma + \pi) - m(\alpha - \gamma + \pi)}{2\pi}, \qquad \omega(r) := \frac{n\omega_1 + m\omega_2}{2\pi}, \tag{1.3}$$

🖉 Springer

and α , β , γ are the arguments of a, b, c, respectively. However, when $|b|r^m = |a|r^n + |c|$, $r^{n-m} > \frac{m|b|}{n|a|}$ and $P + \omega(r)$ is an integer, the number of roots of (1.2) in D_r is equal to m. Moreover, when $|a|r^n$, $|b|r^m$ and |c| are not the side lengths of any triangle, then

The number of roots of f given in (1.2) in
$$D_r = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } |c| > |a|r^n + |b|r^m, \\ m & \text{if } |b|r^m > |a|r^n + |c|, \\ n & \text{if } |a|r^n > |b|r^m + |c|. \end{cases}$$
 (1.4)

Remark 1.2 (Exceptional cases) The original statement of Bohl's Theorem given in [7] includes two additional exceptions, see Item (a) and Item (b) in Theorem B.1 in Appendix B. Nevertheless, when n and m are coprime numbers, such exceptions have been already included in Theorem 1.1 in the case when the triangle is degenerate. We discuss it in fully detail in the Appendix B.

From now on to the end of this manuscript, we assume that a = 1 and in conscious abuse of notation we write

$$f(\zeta) := \zeta^n + b\zeta^m + c, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(1.5)

We start with the following observation. If $gcd(n, m) = \ell \in \{2, 3, ..., m\}$, where gcd denotes the greatest common divisor function, we set $\tilde{n} := n/\ell$ and $\tilde{m} := m/\ell$, which satisfy $gcd(\tilde{n}, \tilde{m}) = 1$. Then the change of variable $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^{\ell}$ yields that *f* is a Schur stable trinomial if and only if

 $\widetilde{f}(\zeta) := \zeta^{\widetilde{n}} + b\zeta^{\widetilde{m}} + c, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}$ is a Schur stable trinomial.

Therefore, without loss of generality, from here to the end of the manuscript, we assume that gcd(n, m) = 1. In addition, if (1.5) is a Schur stable trinomial, then the celebrated Viète's formulas yield that |c| < 1.

For any $s \in \mathbb{R}$ we define the *angular flow* $g_s : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$g_{s}(\zeta) := e^{-ins} f(e^{is}\zeta)$$

= $e^{-ins} (e^{ins}\zeta^{n} + be^{ims}\zeta^{m} + c)$
= $\zeta^{n} + be^{-i(n-m)s}\zeta^{m} + e^{-ins}c,$ (1.6)

where i denotes the unit imaginary number. We point out that the set of roots of g_s are exactly the set of roots of f up to a rotation e^{-is} . In other words, for any $s \in \mathbb{R}$, f is a Schur stable trinomial if and only if g_s is a Schur stable trinomial.

The Fundamental Theorem of Algebra yields that two trinomials f and g have the same roots if and only if $f = \lambda g$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^* := \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$. The preceding equivalence is in fact an equivalence relation. Then it is natural to identify the subspace of trinomials (modulo the preceding equivalence relation) with the complex projective plane $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{C}}$. We recall that

$$\mathbb{P}^{2}_{\mathbb{K}} := \{ [a:b:c] : \text{ where } [a:b:c] := \{ \lambda(a,b,c) : \lambda \in \mathbb{K}^{*} \} \}$$

for \mathbb{K} being the field \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C} and $\mathbb{K}^* := \mathbb{K} \setminus \{0\}$. Let

$$\Omega_n := \{ [a:b:c] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{C}} : a\zeta^n + b\zeta^m + c \text{ is a Schur stable trinomial} \}$$

= {[1:b:c] $\in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{C}} : \zeta^n + b\zeta^m + c \text{ is a Schur stable trinomial} \}$ (1.7)

and define the continuous projection $\Pi_n : \Omega_n \to \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ by

$$\Pi_n([1:b:c]) = [1:|b|:(-1)^n|c|].$$
(1.8)

Deringer

Then we naturally say that an element $[a : b : c] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{K}}$ is Schur stable over \mathbb{K} if and only if $[a : b : c] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{K}}$. In addition, the set Ω_n is called the stability region. By Proposition 7.9 in [5] we have that $\Pi_n(\Omega_n) \subset \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$, that is to say, the function Π_n maps Schur stable trinomials with complex coefficients to Schur stable trinomials with real coefficients. In addition, we remark that the image of Π_n , i.e., $\Pi_n(\Omega_n)$, can be decomposed into two disjoint sets " Δ " and " Γ " according to whether the numbers 1, |b| and |c| are the lengths of the sides of some triangle (it may be degenerate) or not, see Lemma A.3 in Appendix A.

In the recent paper [14], it is applied Theorem 1.1 to obtain a characterization of Schur stability of (1.2) when its coefficients are real numbers. Nevertheless, when the coefficients are complex numbers such characterization is not straightforward. In fact, when the coefficients are complex numbers we note that the pivot P takes continuous values while when the coefficients are real numbers the pivot $P \in \{\ell/2 : \ell \in \mathbb{Z}\}$, see (1.10) below. For a fixed $\omega > 0$ and P taking continuous values, one can note that the number of integers in the open interval $(P - \omega, P + \omega)$ may take three different values.

In what follows we explain the main idea in order to apply Theorem 1.1 for the case of complex coefficients. By Theorem 1.1, the pivot P associated to (1.5) is given by

$$P = \frac{n(\pi + \arg(b) - \arg(c)) - m(\pi - \arg(c))}{2\pi}.$$
 (1.9)

In particular, for the trinomial associated to a point of the form

$$[1:x:y]$$
 with $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$,

all the possible pivots P are given by

$$P = \begin{cases} \frac{n-m}{2} & \text{for } x > 0 & \text{and } y > 0, & \text{i.e., first quadrant,} \\ n - \frac{m}{2} & \text{for } x < 0 & \text{and } y > 0, & \text{i.e., second quadrant,} \\ \frac{n}{2} & \text{for } x < 0 & \text{and } y < 0, & \text{i.e., third quadrant,} \\ 0 & \text{for } x > 0 & \text{and } y < 0, & \text{i.e., fourth quadrant.} \end{cases}$$
(1.10)

We observe that $P \in \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\ell + 1/2 : \ell \in \mathbb{Z}\}$. Consider the trinomial associated to the point $[1 : b : c] \in \Omega_n$, where $b, c \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ with corresponding pivots \widetilde{P} and $\widetilde{\omega}$ defined in (1.3) for r = 1. We note that the corresponding pivots (defined in (1.3) for r = 1) for the trinomials associated to the points of the form

$$[1:\pm|b|:\pm|c|],$$

are P and $\omega = \tilde{\omega}$, where P satisfies (1.10). We stress that the intervals $\tilde{I} := (\tilde{P} - \tilde{\omega}, \tilde{P} + \tilde{\omega})$ and $I := (P - \omega, P + \omega)$ have the same length $2\tilde{\omega} = 2\omega$. However, they may not have the same number of integers in them. The cunning choice Π_n defined in (1.8) implies that \tilde{I} and I have the same number of integers, which allows us to reduce the problem to the real case, see Proposition 7.9 in [5].

1.3 Main Results and Its Consequences

In this subsection, we state the main result of this manuscript and its consequences.

The main result of this manuscript is the following characterization of Ω_n .

Theorem 1.3 (Schur stability for trinomials: projective notation) *Assume that* gcd(n, m) = 1. Let Ω_n be the set defined in (1.7) and Π_n be the projection given in (1.8). Then the following is valid. Every element in Ω_n can be parametrized in the form

$$[1: xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s}: ye^{-ins}],$$

with $[1:x:y] \in \Pi_n(\Omega_n)$, $0 \le s \le 2\pi$ and t is a real number satisfying

(1) $|t| \leq \frac{\pi}{n} \text{ for } [1:x:y] \in \Gamma_n \mod 2,$ (2) $|t| < \frac{\pi(2\omega - n + 1)}{n} \text{ for } [1:x:y] \in \Delta_n \mod 2,$

where

$$\Gamma_{0} := \{ [1:u:v] \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{R}}^{2} \mid 0 \leq u, \ 0 \leq v, \ u+v < 1 \},
\Delta_{0} := \{ [1:u:v] \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{R}}^{2} \mid 0 < u, \ 0 < v, \ u+v \geq 1, \ 2\omega(u,v) > n-1 \},
\Gamma_{1} := \{ [1:u:v] \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{R}}^{2} \mid 0 \leq u, \ v \leq 0, \ u-v < 1 \},
\Delta_{1} := \{ [1:u:v] \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{R}}^{2} \mid 0 < u, \ v < 0, \ u-v < 1 \},
\Delta_{1} := \{ [1:u:v] \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{R}}^{2} \mid 0 < u, \ v < 0, \ u-v > 1, \ 2\omega(u,v) > n-1 \}.$$
(1.11)

and

$$\omega(u,v) := \frac{n \arccos\left(\frac{u^2 + v^2 - 1}{2u|v|}\right) + m \arccos\left(\frac{1 - u^2 + v^2}{2|v|}\right)}{2\pi}.$$
 (1.12)

Conversely, every point of this form belongs in Ω_n .

In the sequel, we reformulate Theorem 1.3 using polynomial notation, which is convenient for the study of (1.1).

Theorem 1.4 (Schur stability for trinomials: polynomial notation) *Assume that* gcd(n, m) = 1. *The following is valid. Every Schur stable trinomial of the form* (1.5) *can be parametrized in the form*

$$\zeta^n + xe^{\mathsf{i}t}e^{-\mathsf{i}(n-m)s}\zeta^m + ye^{-\mathsf{i}ns} \tag{1.13}$$

with $\zeta^n + x\zeta^m + (-1)^n y$ being a Schur stable trinomial, $0 \le s \le 2\pi$ and t is a real number satisfying

(1)
$$|t| \leq \frac{\pi}{n} \text{ for } (x, y) \in \Gamma_n \mod 2,$$

(2) $|t| < \frac{\pi(2\omega - n + 1)}{n} \text{ for } (x, y) \in \Delta_n \mod 2,$

where

$$\Gamma_0 := \{(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid 0 \le u, \ 0 \le v, \ u + v < 1\},
 \Delta_0 := \{(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid 0 < u, \ 0 < v, \ u + v \ge 1, \ 2\omega(u, v) > n - 1\},
 \Gamma_1 := \{(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid 0 \le u, \ v \le 0, \ u - v < 1\},
 \Delta_1 := \{(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid 0 < u, \ v < 0, \ u - v \ge 1, \ 2\omega(u, v) > n - 1\},$$
(1.14)

and

$$\omega(u,v) := \frac{n \arccos\left(\frac{u^2 + v^2 - 1}{2u|v|}\right) + m \arccos\left(\frac{1 - u^2 + v^2}{2|v|}\right)}{2\pi}$$

Conversely, every trinomial of the form (1.13) is Schur stable.

In a conscious abuse of notation, after a natural identification, we use the same labels in (1.11) and (1.14).

We continue to rely on the notations and assumption of Theorem 1.3.



Fig. 1 Bohl's triangle for the stability region

Remark 1.5 (The splitting of the image) We stress that $\Delta_1 = \Delta_n \mod_2$ and $\Gamma_1 = \Gamma_n \mod_2$ for an odd number *n*, and $\Delta_0 = \Delta_n \mod_2$ and $\Gamma_0 = \Gamma_n \mod_2$ for an even number *n*. Moreover, Lemma A.3 in Appendix A implies

$$\Pi_n(\Omega_n) = \begin{cases} \Delta_0 \cup \Gamma_0 & \text{for } n \text{ being an even number,} \\ \Delta_1 \cup \Gamma_1 & \text{for } n \text{ being an odd number.} \end{cases}$$

Remark 1.6 (Existence of a triangle) The Law of Cosines implies that for any $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_n \mod 2$ there exists a triangle with length sides 1, x = |x| and |y|.

By the Law of Cosines we have

$$\omega_1 = \arccos\left(\frac{x^2 + y^2 - 1}{2|x||y|}\right), \quad \omega_2 = \arccos\left(\frac{1 + y^2 - x^2}{2|y|}\right)$$

and

$$\omega_3 = \arccos\left(\frac{1+x^2-y^2}{2|x|}\right).$$

Recall that $\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 = \pi$ and that $\arccos(-\theta) = \pi - \arccos(\theta)$ for $-1 \le \theta \le 1$. By (1.12) we have that

$$2\omega(x, y) = \frac{n\omega_1 + m\omega_2}{\pi} > n - 1$$

is equivalent to $n\omega_3 + (n-m)\omega_2 < \pi$. We also note that the preceding inequality is equivalent to $n(\pi - \omega_1) - m\omega_2 < \pi$.

Remark 1.7 (Schur stability for trinomials with real coefficients) By Proposition 7.9 in [5] it follows that $[1 : x : y] \in \Pi_n(\Omega_n) \subset \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ and hence it means that the associated trinomial $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^n + x\zeta^m + y$ is a Schur stable trinomial with $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$. We point out that the Schur stability for trinomials with general real coefficients has been established for instance in [13], Sect. 3 in [14], Theorem 2 in [45] and Theorem 1.3 in [15].

Remark 1.8 (Dimension of Ω_n and the meaning of the parameters) We point out that the stability region Ω_n is an open set in \mathbb{C}^2 . Hence, it can be naturally parametrized by four real parameters (x, y, s, t). To be more precise,

(i) the parameters x and y are given by the condition $[1 : x : y] \in \prod_n (\Omega_n)$ in Theorem 1.3,

(ii) the parameter *s* is obtained by the angular flow defined in (1.6) applied to $[1 : x : y] \in \prod_n (\Omega_n)$, that is,

 $[0, 2\pi] \ni s \mapsto e^{\mathsf{i}s} \cdot [1:x:y] := [1:e^{-\mathsf{i}(n-m)s}x:e^{-\mathsf{i}ns}y],$

(iii) and finally the parameter *t* satisfying (1) or (2) in Theorem 1.3 can be interpreted as the permissible variation of the pivot P(t), starting with a trinomial in $\Pi_n(\Omega_n)$ which pivot P(0) = P is given explicitly in (1.10), in a way that the open interval given by Bohl's Theorem (Theorem 1.1) contains exactly *n* integers. By (1.9) and (1.10) we deduce that $|t| = \frac{2\pi}{n} |P(t) - P|$.

Moreover, it is an open contractible subspace of \mathbb{R}^4 , in particular, it is path-connected, see Theorem 7.18 in [5].

In Fig. 2 below, we plot $\Pi_n(\Omega_n)$ for the particular cases (n, m) = (3, 1); (n, m) = (3, 2); and (n, m) = (4, 3). We emphasize that the stability region for trinomials with real coefficients, that is $\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$, can be reconstructed from the projection $\Pi_n(\Omega_n)$ yielding the open set limited by the black curves and lines, see Fig. 2. For instance, for (n, m) = (4, 3) we have the following:

(a) For any $[1:x:y] \in \Delta_0 \cup \Gamma_0$ the choice t = 0 and $s = \pi$ yields

$$[1: -x: y] = [1: xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s}: ye^{-ins}] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

(b) For any $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_0$ the choice $t = \pi/4$ and $s = \pi/4$ implies

$$[1:x:-y] = [1:xe^{\mathsf{i}t}e^{-\mathsf{i}(n-m)s}:ye^{-\mathsf{i}ns}] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$$

(c) By Item (b) we know that $[1:x:-y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ whenever $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_0$. We note that the choice t = 0 and $s = \pi$ gives

$$[1:-x:-y] = [1:xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s}:-ye^{-ins}] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$$

when $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_0$.

(d) If $[1:x:y] \in \Delta_0$ then $[1:x:-y] \notin \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$. Recall that n = 4 and m = 3. By contradiction, assume that there exist $|t| < \frac{\pi(2\omega - n + 1)}{n}$ and $0 \le s \le 2\pi$ such that

$$[1:x:-y] = [1:xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s}:ye^{-ins}].$$

Then we have $s \in \{\pi/4, (3/4)\pi, (5/4)\pi, (7/4)\pi\}$ and $t - (n - m)s = 2\pi\ell$ for some integer ℓ . Since $\omega \le n/2$, we obtain $|t| = |s + 2\pi\ell| < \frac{\pi(2\omega - n + 1)}{n} \le \frac{\pi}{n}$, that is,

$$|s+2\pi\ell| < \frac{\pi}{4}$$
 for $s \in \{\pi/4, (3/4)\pi, (5/4)\pi, (7/4)\pi\}$ and $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$,

which is a contradiction. Similar reasoning implies that $[1 : -x : -y] \notin \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ whenever $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_0$.

Remark 1.9 (Geometric interpretation of Γ_0 , Γ_1 , Δ_0 and Δ_1) It is well-known that Γ_j and Δ_j belong to $\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$, see Theorem 2 in [45] and the Figure in p. 1712 in [45]. In fact, the (projective) Cohn domain $\mathcal{C} := \{[1 : u : v] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} : |u| + |v| < 1\}$ belongs to $\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$. It corresponds to the region in \mathbb{R}^2 , where the absolute value of the coefficients of the trinomial associated to the point [1 : x : y] are not the lengths of the sides of any triangle including degenerate triangles. For Δ_j we obtain a geometric interpretation of it. To be precise, it is the region in \mathbb{R}^2 , where the absolute value of the coefficients of the trinomial associated to the point [1 : x : y] are the lengths of the sides of some triangle (it may be degenerate). In addition, the dotted line in Fig. 2 represents when such triangle is degenerate.



Fig. 2 The plot of $\Pi_n(\Omega_n)$ for the particular cases (n, m) = (3, 1), (3, 2) and (4, 3), respectively. The set Γ_j is a right triangle that includes the legs sides, however, its hypotenuse (dotted line) belongs to Δ_j . The solid curve bounding Δ_j does not belong to it

In the following corollaries we always assume that gcd(n, m) = 1 and the notations of Theorem 1.3.

Corollary 1.10 (Not stable projection) If $[1 : x : y] \notin \Pi_n(\Omega_n)$ then $[1 : xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s} : ye^{-ins}] \notin \Omega_n$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $s \in [0, 2\pi]$. In other words, if the projection of [1 : b : c] under Π_n is not Schur stable, then [1 : b : c] is not Schur stable.

Proof The proof is a direct consequence of Theorem 1.3.

Remark 1.11 (Trinomials with complex coefficients which are not Schur stable) Let u and v be positive numbers. Assume that the trinomial $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^n + u\zeta^m + (-1)^n v$ is not Schur stable. Then Corollary 1.10 yields that the trinomial $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^n + a\zeta^m + b$ is not Schur stable for any complex numbers a and b satisfying |a| = u and |b| = v. If in addition, we assume that all roots of $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^n + u\zeta^m + (-1)^n v$ have modulus different from one, then the continuity of the roots of polynomials with respect to the coefficients yields that for any complex numbers a and b satisfying |a| = u and |b| = v there exists $\varepsilon := \varepsilon(a, b, n, m) > 0$ such that the trinomials $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^n + a_*\zeta^m + b_*$ are not Schur stable for any complex numbers a_* and b_* satisfying $|a - a_*| < \varepsilon$ and $|b - b_*| < \varepsilon$.

Remark 1.12 (Schur Stability of the projection Π_n does not imply Schur stability) We stress that the converse statement of Corollary 1.10 is not true. In other words, in general $\Pi_n[1:b:c] \in \Pi_n(\Omega_n)$ does not imply $[1:b:c] \in \Omega_n$. For instance, let n = 4 and m = 3 and assume that $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^n + x\zeta^m + (-1)^n y$ with x > 0 and y > 0 is a Schur stable trinomial. In addition, assume that $[1:x:(-1)^n y] \in \Delta_0$, see Fig. 2. Then the trinomials of the form $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^n \pm x\zeta^m - y$ are not Schur stable.

Using a math software, one can verify that the trinomial $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^{11} - e^{i \cdot 0.6} \zeta^{10} - 0.05 e^{i \cdot 0.6}$ is not Schur stable even though its corresponding projection $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^{11} + \zeta^{10} - 0.05$ is Schur stable.

Remark 1.13 (Schur stability for real coefficients: characterization) By Theorem 1.3 in [15] it follows that $[1 : x : y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ if and only if one of the following conditions is valid:

$$\begin{aligned} &(C_1) |x| + |y| < 1, \\ &(C_2) |x| + |y| \ge 1, |x| - 1 < |y| < 1, (-1)^m x^n y^{n-m} < 0 \text{ and} \\ &\frac{n \arccos\left(\frac{1+x^2-y^2}{2|x|}\right) + (n-m) \arccos\left(\frac{1-x^2+y^2}{2|y|}\right)}{z} < 1. \end{aligned}$$

☑ Springer

Moreover, Corollary 2 in [14] gives the following characterization of $\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$. A point $[1:x:y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ if and only if one of the following conditions is valid: (*C*₁) given above or

$$(C'_{2}) |x| + |y| \ge 1, (-1)^{m} x^{n} y^{n-m} < 0 \text{ and}$$

$$\frac{n \arccos\left(\frac{1-x^{2}-y^{2}}{2|x||y|}\right) - m \arccos\left(\frac{1-x^{2}+y^{2}}{2|y|}\right)}{\pi} < 1.$$
(1.16)

We stress that (1.15) and (1.16) are equivalent, and the they are also equivalent to the condition $2\omega(x, y) > n - 1$, where $\omega(x, y)$ is defined in (1.12), see Remark 1.6.

In the sequel, we show that Theorem 1.3 yields, in particular, a characterization of $\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$, i.e., the stability region for trinomials with general real coefficients. We recall that $\Pi_n([1 : a : b]) = [1 : x : y]$, where x = |a| > 0 and $y = (-1)^n |b|$, see (1.8), and

$$\Pi_n(\Omega_n) = \begin{cases} \Delta_0 \cup \Gamma_0 & \text{for } n \text{ being an even number,} \\ \Delta_1 \cup \Gamma_1 & \text{for } n \text{ being an odd number,} \end{cases}$$

see Remark 1.5.

Corollary 1.14 (Schur stability for real coefficients) For any integer $n \ge 2$ it follows that $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_n \mod 2$ if and only if $[1:x:-y], [1:-x:y], [1:-x:-y] \in C := \{[1:u:v] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} : |u| + |v| < 1\}$ with x > 0 and $(-1)^n y > 0$. In addition,

- (*i*) for *n* being an even positive integer it follows that $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_0$ if and only if $[1 : -x : y] \in (\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}) \setminus C$ and x > 0.
- (ii) for $n \ge 3$ being an odd positive number and m is an even positive number. Then $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_1$ if and only if $[1 : -x : -y] \in (\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}) \setminus \mathcal{C}$, x > 0 and y < 0.
- (iii) for $n \ge 3$ being an odd positive number and m is an odd positive number. Then $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_1$ if and only if $[1 : x : -y] \in (\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}) \setminus C$ and y < 0.

Proof The proof is given in Sect. A.1 in Appendix A.

As we have already pointed out in Remark 1.9 or in Corollary 1.14, the Cohn domain $C \subset \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$. However, its boundary $\partial C := \{[1 : u : v] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} : |u| + |v| = 1\}$ does not belong in $\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$. By Remark 1.13 or Corollary 1.14 we have that $\{[1 : u : v] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} : |u| + |v| = 1, (-1)^m u^n v^{n-m} < 0\}$ belongs to $\Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$.

The following corollary yields that the trinomial $\zeta \mapsto \zeta^n + b\zeta^m + c$ with $1 \le m < n-1$, and $b, c \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfying |b| = 1 and 0 < |c| < 1 is never Schur stable.

Corollary 1.15 (Trinomials with two unimodular coefficients) Assume that |b| = 1 and 0 < |c| < 1. If $1 \le m < n - 1$, then $\prod_n([1 : b : c]) = [1 : 1 : (-1)^n |c|] \notin \Omega_n$. Hence $[1 : b : c] \notin \Omega_n$.

Proof Assume that 0 < |c| < 1. We note that

$$\frac{\pi}{3} \le \arccos\left(\frac{|c|}{2}\right) < \frac{\pi}{2}.$$
(1.17)

We start with the case when n is an even number. The case when n is an odd number is analogous. By (1.8) we have that $\Pi_n([1 : b : c]) = [1 : 1, |c|]$. Now, we verify when

 $[1:1:|c|] \in \Delta_0$, where Δ_0 is defined in (1.11). For short, we write $\omega := \omega(1, |c|)$. Observe that $2\omega > n - 1$ if and only if

$$2\omega = (n+m)\frac{\arccos\left(\frac{|c|}{2}\right)}{\pi} > n-1.$$

The preceding inequality together with (1.17) imply

$$(n+m)\frac{1}{2} > n-1$$

yielding m = n - 1. By Corollary 1.10 we conclude the second part of the statement. \Box

Corollary 1.15 implies that the trinomial associated to $[1 : \pm 1 : c]$ is stable only when m = n - 1. In Theorem 2 in [46], the author studies the Schur stability for the trinomial associated to [1 : -1 : c] with $c \in \mathbb{R}$ and m = n - 1. The following corollary yields the Schur stability for the trinomial associated to [1 : 1 : c].

Corollary 1.16 (Theorem 2 in [46]: real case) Assume that b = 1, 0 < c < 1 and m = n - 1.

(*i*) If *n* is an odd number then $[1:1:c] \notin \Omega_n$. Moreover, $[1:1:-c] \in \Omega_n$ if and only if

$$\frac{(n-1)\pi}{2n-1} < \arccos\left(\frac{c}{2}\right) < \frac{\pi}{2}.$$
(1.18)

(ii) If n is an even number then $[1:1:-c] \notin \Omega_n$. In addition, $[1:1:c] \in \Omega_n$ if and only if

$$\frac{(n-1)\pi}{2n-1} < \arccos\left(\frac{c}{2}\right) < \frac{\pi}{2}$$

As a consequence of Corollary 1.15 we have that n = 2 and $c \in (-1, 1)$ are necessary conditions in order that the Lambert trinomial (see [67]) $L_n(\zeta) = \zeta^n + \zeta + c$, $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}$ with $c \in \mathbb{R}$ is Schur stable. However, such conditions are not sufficient. Indeed, by Corollary 1.16 we have that L_2 is a Schur stable trinomial if and only if 0 < c < 1.

Proof of Corollary 1.16 We start with the proof of Item (i). By (1.10) we note that P = 1/2. Then Theorem 1.1 with the help of Lemma A.1 in Appendix A implies the first part of the statement.

We continue with the second part of the statement. By Theorem 1.3 it is enough to show that $\Pi_n([1:1:-c]) = [1:1:-c] \in \Delta_1$. For short, we write $\omega := \omega(1, |c|)$. Observe that $2\omega > n - 1$ if and only if

$$2\omega = (2n-1)\frac{\arccos\left(\frac{|c|}{2}\right)}{\pi} > n-1$$

yields the left-hand side of (1.18). Since $c \in (0, 1)$, the right-hand side of (1.18) follows straightforwardly.

The proof of Item (ii) is similar and we omit it.

The following corollary yields the Schur stability for the trinomial associated to [1 : b : c] for m = n - 1 and complex coefficients |b| = 1 and 0 < |c| < 1. In particular, it implies Theorem 2 in [46], and Theorem 1 and Theorem 2 in [50].

Deringer

Corollary 1.17 (Theorem 2 in [46], Theorem 1 and Theorem 2 in [50]: complex case) *Assume* that |b| = 1, 0 < |c| < 1 and m = n - 1. The point $[1 : b : c] \in \Omega_n$ if and only if

$$\left(\frac{n-1}{2n-1}\right)\pi < \arccos\left(\frac{|c|}{2}\right) < \frac{\pi}{2},$$

and [1:b:c] can be represented in the form

$$[1:e^{it}e^{-is}:(-1)^n|c|e^{-ins}], \quad where \quad s \in [0, 2\pi]$$

and

$$|t| < \frac{(2n-1)\arccos\left(\frac{|c|}{2}\right) - (n-1)\pi}{n}$$

Proof The proof is a direct consequence of Theorem 1.3.

Remark 1.18 (A discussion about trinomials with complex coefficients)

- (i) We stress that Theorem 1.3 generalizes the results given in [14] for trinomials with real coefficients to the setting of complex coefficients.
- (ii) We point out that, in particular, Theorem 1.3 gives the stability region for trinomials with real coefficients, see Remark 1.13 and Corollary 1.14.
- (iii) Using the so-called Schur–Cohn method, necessary and sufficient analytic conditions for the Schur stability of trinomials with complex coefficients and exponents n general and m = n 1 have been analyzed in Theorem 2 and Theorem 4 of [16], see also Theorem 14 in [12]. More recently, using the so-called discrete D-decomposition method, necessary and sufficient analytic conditions for the Schur stability of trinomials with complex coefficients and general exponents n and m is provided in Theorem 1 of [17]. We point out that our main result Theorem 1.3 is an implicit geometric parametrization of the stability region, see Remark 1.8.

In what follows, we compare the results of Theorem 1 in [17] with the findings of Theorem 1.3. We verify that Theorem 1 in [17] implies Theorem 1.3. Inspecting the proof below, one can see that the converse also holds true. It is not hard to see that the condition (4) in Theorem 1 of [17] is equivalent to the Item (1) in Theorem 1.3. In the sequel, we assume that condition given in (5)-(6) of Theorem 1 in [17] is valid. They read for the trinomial (1.5) as follows: $|b| + |c| \ge 1$, |b| - 1 < |c| < 1 and

$$n \arccos\left(\frac{1+|b|^2-|c|^2}{2|b|}\right) + (n-m) \arccos\left(\frac{1-|b|^2+|c|^2}{2|c|}\right)$$

$$< \arccos\left(\cos\left(n\arg(-b) - (n-m)\arg(-c)\right)\right),$$
(1.19)

where $\arg(z)$ denotes the argument of a given non-zero complex number z. Let x = |b| and y = |c| and recall the definition of the angles ω_1 , ω_2 and ω_3 given in Fig. 1 of Remark 1.6. The inequality (1.19) reads as follows

$$n\omega_3 + (n-m)\omega_2 < \arccos\left(\cos\left(n\arg(b) - (n-m)\arg(c) + m\pi\right)\right),$$

where we have used the fact that $\arg(-z) = \pi + \arg(z), z \in \mathbb{C}, z \neq 0$. Since $\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 = \pi$ and $2\pi\omega = n\omega_1 + m\omega_2$ (recalling $\omega := \omega(1)$ for r = 1 defined in (1.3)), we obtain

$$n\pi - 2\pi\omega < \arccos\left(\cos\left(n\arg(b) - (n-m)\arg(c) + m\pi\right)\right). \tag{1.20}$$

Since the Cosine function is even, we also have

$$n\pi - 2\pi\omega < \arccos\left(\cos\left(-n\arg(b) + (n-m)\arg(c) - m\pi\right)\right). \tag{1.21}$$

Now, assume that *n* is an even number. Since gcd(n, m) = 1, we have that *m* is an odd number. Recall that $arccos(-\mu) = \pi - arccos(\mu)$ for $-1 \le \mu \le 1$ and $cos(\varphi + k\pi) = -cos(\varphi)$ for $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}$ and *k* being an odd integer number. Then (1.20) is equivalent to

$$n\pi - 2\pi\omega < \arccos\left(-\cos\left(n\arg(b) - (n-m)\arg(c)\right)\right)$$

= $\pi - \arccos\left(\cos\left(n\arg(b) - (n-m)\arg(c)\right)\right)$ (1.22)
= $\pi - n\arg(b) + (n-m)\arg(c),$

and (1.21) is equivalent to

$$n\pi - 2\pi\omega < \arccos\left(-\cos\left(-n\arg(b) + (n-m)\arg(c)\right)\right)$$

= $\pi - \arccos\left(\cos\left(-n\arg(b) + (n-m)\arg(c)\right)\right)$ (1.23)
= $\pi + n\arg(b) - (n-m)\arg(c)$.

Note that (1.22) is equivalent to

$$\frac{n \arg(b) - (n - m) \arg(c)}{2\pi} < \frac{1}{2}(2\omega - (n - 1))$$

and (1.23) is equivalent to

$$-\frac{1}{2}(2\omega-(n-1))<\frac{n\arg(b)-(n-m)\arg(c)}{2\pi}$$

The preceding two inequalities are equivalent to

$$\frac{1}{2}(2\omega - (n-1)) > \left| \frac{n \arg(b) - (n-m) \arg(c)}{2\pi} \right|.$$
 (1.24)

By (1.9) and (1.10) the corresponding pivots for the points [1 : a : b] and [1 : x : y] are given by

$$P = \frac{n(\pi + \arg(b) - \arg(c)) - m(\pi - \arg(c))}{2\pi} \text{ and } P_* := \frac{n - m}{2},$$

respectively. Note that

$$P - P_* = \frac{n(\pi + \arg(b) - \arg(c)) - m(\pi - \arg(c))}{2\pi} - \frac{(n - m)\pi}{2\pi}$$
$$= \frac{n(\arg(b) - \arg(c)) + m\arg(c)}{2\pi}$$
$$= \frac{n\arg(b) - (n - m)\arg(c)}{2\pi}.$$

Therefore, (1.24) reads as follows

$$|P - P_*| < \frac{1}{2}(2\omega - (n-1)).$$

By Item (iii) in Remark 1.8 we obtain

$$|t| < \frac{2\pi}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{2}(2\omega - (n-1)) = \frac{\pi}{n}(2\omega - (n-1)),$$

which is the statement of Item (2) in Theorem 1.3. The case when n is an odd number is analogous.

The rest of the manuscript is organized as follows. In Sect. 2 we provide the proof of Theorem 1.3. Finally, in Appendix A we state and show auxiliary results that we use throughout the manuscript. In addition, in Sect. A.1 of Appendix A we give the proof of Corollary 1.14. In Appendix B, for completeness of the presentation, we show that the exceptional cases in the original statement of Bohl's Theorem given in [7] are included in the counting procedure of Theorem 1.1.

2 Proof of the Main Result: Theorem 1.3

The proof of Theorem 1.3 is given in Sect. 2.2. It relies on Theorem 1.1 and basic arithmetic properties about open intervals (the number of integers that they contain). This is the content of Lemma 2.1, Lemma 2.3 and Lemma 2.5, which is proved in Sect. 2.1.

2.1 Arithmetic Properties for Open Intervals

From now on, unless otherwise specified,

$$I = (P - \omega, P + \omega)$$

denotes an open interval with center (pivot) $P \in \mathbb{R}$ and radius $\omega \ge 0$ with the understanding $I = \emptyset$ for $\omega = 0$ and any $P \in \mathbb{R}$. The numbers $P - \omega$ and $P + \omega$ are called the boundary points of *I*. For shorthand, we denote the length of *I* by $\mu(I)$ and note that $\mu(I) = 2\omega$. Moreover, we denote by #*I* the cardinality of the set $I \cap \mathbb{Z}$.

In the sequel, we show that the length of an open interval I with no integer boundary points and containing precisely k integers satisfies $k - 1 < \mu(I) < k + 1$. We point out that for k = 0, the lower bound k - 1 = -1 is not informative. This is the content of the following lemma.

Lemma 2.1 (Localization of the length given the cardinality) Assume that #I = k for some $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ and the boundary points of I are not integers, then it follows that $k - 1 < 2\omega < k + 1$.

Proof By hypothesis there exists a unique $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$\ell - 1 < P - \omega < \ell \quad \text{and} \quad \ell + k - 1 < P + \omega < \ell + k. \tag{2.1}$$

п

Since $2\omega = (P + \omega) - (P - \omega)$, (2.1) implies

$$k - 1 = (\ell + (k - 1)) - \ell < 2\omega < \ell + k - (\ell - 1) = k + 1.$$

The preceding inequality concludes the statement.

Remark 2.2 (Boundary points of *I*) If in Lemma 2.1 we omit the restriction that the boundary points of *I* are not integers, then it follows that $k - 1 < 2\omega \le k + 1$.

Now, we study in detail the following question. Given an open interval *I* satisfying $k-1 < \mu(I) < k + 1$, how many integers does it contain? It is not hard to see that there are three possible values: k - 1, k or k + 1. Moreover, once the length of the interval *I* is fixed, there are only two possible values depending on whether $k - 1 < \mu(I) \le k$ or $k < \mu(I) < k + 1$. In the first case, the possible values are k - 1 and k, while in the second case, the possible values are k and k + 1. This is the content of the following lemma.

Lemma 2.3 (Localization of the cardinality given the length) Let k be a non-negative integer such that $k - 1 < 2\omega < k + 1$ ($0 \le 2\omega < 1$ for k = 0) then $\#I \in \{k - 1, k, k + 1\}$ ($\#I \in \{0, 1\}$ for k = 0). In addition,

- (i) if $k 1 < 2\omega < k$ (equivalently, if $2\omega (k 1) < k + 1 2\omega$) then $\#I \in \{k 1, k\}$.
- (ii) if $2\omega = k$ (equivalently, if $2\omega (k 1) = k + 1 2\omega$) then #I = k or the boundary points of I are integers and #I = k 1.
- (iii) if $k < 2\omega < k + 1$ (equivalently, if $2\omega (k 1) > k + 1 2\omega$) then $\#I \in \{k, k + 1\}$.

Proof The proof is done by contradiction. Let us assume that #I = k + j for some |j| > 1. By Remark 2.2 we have that

$$k+j-1 < 2\omega \le k+j+1,$$

which leads to a contradiction to the hypothesis $k - 1 < 2\omega < k + 1$. As a consequence, $\#I \in \{k - 1, k, k + 1\}$.

In the sequel, we show Item (i). Assume that $k - 1 < 2\omega < k$. We claim that no interval of length 2ω contains exactly k + 1 integers. Indeed, by Remark 2.2 we have that $k < 2\omega \le k+2$ and it contradicts the assumption that $k - 1 < 2\omega < k$.

Now, we provide two examples of open intervals I_1 and I_2 of length 2ω with precisely k and k - 1 integers, respectively. For instance, the open intervals

$$I_1 := \left(\frac{k-1}{2} - \omega, \ \omega + \frac{k-1}{2}\right), \quad I_2 := (0, 2\omega)$$

have length 2ω , $I_1 \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{0, ..., k-1\}$ and $I_2 \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{1, ..., k-1\}$.

The proofs of Item (ii) and Item (iii) are analogous and we omit them.

Remark 2.4 (At most three different values given the length) Roughly speaking, Lemma 2.3 can be interpreted as follows. By moving the center (pivot) P of the original interval I and preserving its length 2ω , it follows that the amount of integers in the new interval diminishes by one, does not change or increases by one. In addition, Lemma 2.3 yields precisely when the new interval remains with the same amount of integers, decreases by one or increases by one, according between which integers the length of the interval is located.

Broadly speaking, the next lemma allows us to quantify how far we can move the initial pivot $P \in \mathbb{Z}/2 := \{\ell/2 : \ell \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ of the open interval *I* with no integer boundary points, preserving the length of the interval and the number of integers contained in the new interval, which also has no integer boundary points.

Lemma 2.5 (Localization of the cardinality given the length and the pivot) Assume that $\#I = k \ge 0$, the boundary points of I are not integers and $P \in \mathbb{Z}/2$. We consider the open interval $I' := (P' - \omega, P' + \omega)$ and define

$$v_1 := 2\omega - (k - 1), \quad v_2 := k + 1 - 2\omega.$$

Then it follows that

- (i) If $0 \le k 1 < 2\omega < k$ and $|P P'| < v_1/2$ then #I' = k and no boundary point of I' is an integer.
- (ii) If $0 \le k 1 < 2\omega < k$ and $|P P'| = v_1/2$ then some boundary point of I' is integer and #I' = k 1.
- (iii) If $k = 2\omega$ and $|P P'| < v_1/2 = v_2/2$ then #I' = k and no boundary point of I' is an integer.

- (iv) If $k = 2\omega$ and $|P P'| = v_1/2 = v_2/2$ then both boundary points of I' are integers and #I' = k 1.
- (v) If $k < 2\omega < k + 1$ and $|P P'| < v_2/2$ then #I' = k and no boundary point of I' is an integer.
- (vi) If $k < 2\omega < k + 1$ and $|P P'| = v_2/2$ then some boundary point of I' is an integer and #I' = k.

Proof We start with the proof of Item (i). The proof of Item (i) is divided in two cases: $P \in \mathbb{Z}$ or $P \in (\mathbb{Z} + 1/2)$.

First, we assume that $P \in \mathbb{Z}$. By Item (i) of Lemma A.1 in Appendix A, we have that k = 2k' + 1 for some non-negative integer k'. Moreover,

$$I \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{P - k', P - k' + 1, \dots, P, \dots, P + k' - 1, P + k'\}.$$

Since $|P' - P| < \nu_1/2 = \omega - \left(\frac{k-1}{2}\right) = \omega - k'$, we have that

$$P' - \omega < P - k'$$
 and $P + k' < P' + \omega$, (2.2)

Then $|P' - P| < k' + 1 - \omega$ due to $2\omega < k = 2k' + 1$. The latter yields

$$P - (k'+1) < P' - \omega$$
 and $P' + \omega < P + k' + 1.$ (2.3)

By (2.2) to (2.3) we deduce that

$$I' \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{P - k', P - k' + 1, \dots, P, \dots, P + k' - 1, P + k'\}$$

and $P' - \omega$, $P' + \omega$ are not integers. Therefore, #I' = 2k' + 1 = k.

We continue the proof with the case $P = \ell + 1/2$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$. By Item (ii) of Lemma A.1 in Appendix A we have that #I = 2k' for some non-negative integer k'. Moreover,

$$I \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{\ell - k' + 1, \ell - k' + 2, \dots, \ell + k' - 1, \ell + k'\}.$$

Since $|P' - (\ell + 1/2)| = |P' - P| < \omega - k' + 1/2$, it follows that

$$P' - \omega < \ell - k' + 1$$
 and $\ell + k' < P' + \omega$. (2.4)

The hypothesis $2\omega < k = 2k'$ also reads as $\omega - k' + 1/2 < k' + 1/2 - \omega$. As consequence, $|P' - (\ell + 1/2)| < \omega - k' + 1/2 < k' + 1/2 - \omega$, which implies

$$\ell - k' < P' - \omega$$
 and $P' + \omega < \ell + k' + 1.$ (2.5)

By (2.4) and (2.5) it follows that

$$I' \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{\ell - k' + 1, \ell - k' + 2, \dots, \ell + k'\} = I \cap \mathbb{Z},$$

and the numbers $P' - \omega$ and $P' + \omega$ are not integers. This completes the proof of Item (i).

We continue with the proof of Item (ii). As in the proof of Item (i), the proof of Item (ii) is divided in two cases: $P \in \mathbb{Z}$ or $P \in (\mathbb{Z} + 1/2)$. We point out that $P' \neq P$ due to the assumptions.

We start assuming $P \in \mathbb{Z}$. By Item (i) of Lemma A.1 in Appendix A, we have that k = 2k' + 1 for some non-negative integer k'. In addition,

$$I \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{P - k', P - k' + 1, \dots, P, \dots, P + k' - 1, P + k'\}.$$

The hypothesis $|P'-P| = v_1/2 = \omega - k' > 0$ yields $P'-P = \omega - k'$ or $P'-P = -(\omega - k')$. If $P'-P = \omega - k'$ then

$$P' - \omega = P - k' \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(2.6)

Deringer

The inequality $P - P' < 0 < \omega - k'$ implies that

$$P + k' < P' + \omega. \tag{2.7}$$

By hypothesis $2\omega < k = 2k' + 1$, which implies $\omega - k' < k' + 1 - \omega$. As a consequence, $|P - P'| = \omega - k' < k' + 1 - \omega$, which yields

$$P' + \omega < P + k' + 1. \tag{2.8}$$

By (2.6), (2.7) and (2.8) we deduce that

$$I' \cap \mathbb{Z} := \{P - k' + 1, P - k', \dots, P, \dots, P + k' - 1, P + k'\}$$

and $P' - \omega$ is an integer. The proof for the case $P' - P = -(\omega - k')$ is analogous and we omit it.

We continue the proof with the case $P = \ell + 1/2$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$. By Item (ii) of Lemma A.1 in Appendix A we have that k = 2k' for some non-negative integer k'. Moreover,

$$I \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{\ell - k' + 1, \ell - k' + 2, \dots, \ell + k' - 1, \ell + k'\}.$$

As in the previous case, we have that $P' - (\ell + 1/2) = P' - P = \omega - k' + 1/2 > 0$ or $P' - P = -(\omega - k' + 1/2) < 0$. We show the case $P' - P = \omega - k' + 1/2$. The proof for the case $P' - P = -(\omega - k' + 1/2)$ is analogous and we omit it.

We note that $P' - (\ell + 1/2) = P' - P = \omega - k' + 1/2 > 0$ implies

$$P' - \omega = \ell - k' + 1.$$
 (2.9)

In addition, the inequality $\ell + 1/2 - P' = P - P' < 0 < \omega - k' + 1/2$ implies that

$$\ell + k' < P' + \omega. \tag{2.10}$$

By hypothesis $2\omega < k = 2k'$, we have that $\omega - k' + 1/2 < k' + 1/2 - \omega$. Thus,

$$|P' - \ell - 1/2| = |P' - P| = \omega - k' + 1/2 < k' + 1/2 - \omega,$$

which implies

$$P' + \omega < \ell + k' + 1. \tag{2.11}$$

By (2.9), (2.10), (2.11) we obtain

$$I' \cap \mathbb{Z} = \{\ell - k' + 2, \dots, \ell + k' - 1, \ell + k'\}$$

and $P' - \omega$ is an integer. The proof of Item (ii) is complete.

The proofs of Item (iii), Item (iv), Item (v) and Item (vi) are similar and we left the details to the interested reader. \Box

In the following lemma, Item (1) and Item (2) are restatements of Lemma 2.5 in a condensed form. We state them here for completeness of the presentation. Additionally, we introduce Item (3) which allows us to see when the new interval I' has different cardinality from the initial interval I.

Lemma 2.6 (Variation of the pivot) Assume that #I = k, the boundary points of I are not integers and $P \in \mathbb{Z}/2 := \{\ell/2 : \ell \in \mathbb{Z}\}$. We denote the open interval $(P' - \omega, P' + \omega)$ by I', and

$$\nu = \min \left\{ 2\omega - (k-1), k+1 - 2\omega \right\}.$$
(2.12)

(1) If $|P - P'| < \frac{\nu}{2}$ then #I' = k and no boundary point of I' is an integer.

Deringer

(2) If $|P - P'| = \frac{v}{2}$ then a boundary point of I' is integer.

(3) If $\frac{v}{2} < |P - P'| \le \frac{1}{2}$ then $\#I' \ne k$ and no boundary point of I' is an integer.

Proof We prove Item (3). For $P_0 := P - 1/2$ and $Q_0 := P + 1/2$, Lemma A.1 in Appendix A yields that the intervals $I_0 = (P_0 - \omega, P_0 + \omega)$ and $J_0 = (Q_0 - \omega, Q_0 + \omega)$ satisfy $\#I_0 = \#J_0 \neq k$.

By hypothesis $\frac{\nu}{2} < |P - P'| \le \frac{1}{2}$ (so $\nu < 1$, and it means that no boundary point of I_0 or J_0 is an integer), which implies

$$|P_0 - P'| < \frac{1 - \nu}{2}$$
 or $|Q_0 - P'| < \frac{1 - \nu}{2}$.

In the sequel, we show that $\#I' = \#I_0 = \#J_0$. Since $\#I_0 \neq k$ and $\mu(I_0) = 2\omega$, Lemma 2.3 implies that $\#I_0 \in \{k - 1, k + 1\}$. Assume that $\#I_0 = k - 1$. Since $\mu(I_0) = 2\omega$, Lemma 2.1 yields $k - 2 < 2\omega < k$. By hypothesis #I = k and $\mu(I) = 2\omega$, then Lemma 2.1 implies $k - 1 < 2\omega < k + 1$. Therefore, $k - 1 < 2\omega < k$ and hence $\nu_0 = k - 2\omega$, where ν_0 is the corresponding value of (2.12) for I_0 . Since

$$1 - \nu = 1 - (2\omega - (k - 1)) = \nu_0,$$

Item (1) of Lemma 2.6 applied to I_0 implies $\#I' = \#I_0 = k - 1$ and no boundary point of I' is an integer. The case $\#I_0 = k + 1$ is analogous. In summary, $\#I' \neq k$ and no boundary point of I' is an integer.

2.2 Proof of Theorem 1.3

In this subsection, we show Theorem 1.3, which is a consequence of what we have already proved up to here.

Proof of Theorem 1.3 Without loss of generality, we assume that *n* is even number (the proof for the case *n* is an odd number is analogous).

We start showing the necessary implication. Let $[1 : b : c] \in \Omega_n$ be fixed and write $b = xe^{i\theta_1}$ and $c = ye^{i\theta_2}$ for some $\theta_1, \theta_2 \in \mathbb{R}$, where x = |b|, y = |c|. By Proposition 7.9 in [5] we have that

$$[1:x:y] := [1:|b|:|c|] \in \Pi_n(\Omega_n) \subset \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}},$$
(2.13)

where Π_n is defined in (1.8). For convenience, we introduce the following notation

$$e^{i\theta} \cdot [1:b:c] := [1:be^{-i(n-m)\theta}:ce^{-in\theta}].$$
 (2.14)

In particular, for $\sigma = \frac{\theta_2}{n}$ we have that

$$e^{\mathbf{i}\sigma} \cdot [1:b:c] = [1:xe^{\mathbf{i}t'}:y],$$
 (2.15)

where $t' := \theta_1 - (n - m)\frac{\theta_2}{n}$. Since *n* and *m* are coprime numbers, we have that *n* and *n* - *m* are also coprime numbers. Then there exists (at most two) an *n*-th root of unity $e^{2\pi i k/n}$ such that

$$\left(e^{\frac{2\pi ik}{n}}\right)^{-(n-m)}e^{it'} = e^{it}, \quad \text{where} \quad |t| \le \frac{\pi}{n}.$$
 (2.16)

By (2.15) and (2.16) we obtain

$$e^{\frac{2\pi ik}{n}} \cdot [1: xe^{it'}: y] = [1: xe^{it}: y].$$
(2.17)

🖉 Springer

The choice $s = -\frac{2\pi k}{n} - \sigma \mod 2\pi$, where $0 \le s \le 2\pi$ with the help (2.15) and (2.17) we have that

$$e^{-is} \cdot [1:b:c] = (e^{\frac{2\pi ik}{n}} e^{i\sigma}) \cdot [1:b:c] = e^{\frac{2\pi ik}{n}} \cdot (e^{i\sigma} \cdot [1:b:c])$$
$$= e^{\frac{2\pi ik}{n}} \cdot [1:xe^{it'}:y] = [1:xe^{it}:y].$$

The preceding equality with the help of (2.14) yields

$$[1:b:c] = e^{is} \cdot [1:xe^{it}:y] = [1:xe^{it}e^{-(n-m)s}:ye^{-ins}] \quad \text{with} \quad |t| \le \frac{n}{n}.$$

By the definition of Δ_0 and Γ_0 given in (1.11) we note that they are disjoint. Moreover, by Remark 1.5 we have that $\Pi_n(\Omega_n) = \Delta_0 \cup \Gamma_0$.

We point out that for $[1 : x : y] \in \Gamma_0$ there is nothing to prove. In the sequel, we assume that $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_0$. For short, we write $\omega = \omega(x, y)$. We claim that

$$|t| < \frac{(2\omega - n + 1)\pi}{n}$$

Indeed, by contradiction argument assume that

$$\frac{(2\omega - n + 1)\pi}{n} \le |t| \le \frac{\pi}{n}.$$
(2.18)

Recall that $[1 : b : c] \in \Omega_n$ and hence by (2.13) we also have $[1 : x : y] \in \Omega_n$. Now, we apply Theorem 1.1 for the corresponding trinomials f and g associated to [1 : x : y] and $[1 : b : c] = [1 : xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s} : ye^{-ins}]$, respectively. Since $[1, x, y] \in \Delta_0$, Remark 1.6 yields that the positive numbers 1, x and y are the side lengths of some triangle (it may be degenerate). The corresponding pivots (1.3) are given by

$$P_f := \frac{n-m}{2}, \qquad P_g := \frac{n(t+\pi)-m\pi}{2\pi} = P_f + \frac{nt}{2\pi}$$
 (2.19)

and

$$\omega_f(1) = \omega_g(1) = \frac{n\omega_1 + m\omega_2}{2\pi},$$

where ω_1 and ω_2 are the opposite angles to the side lengths 1 and x of a triangle with side lengths 1, x and y. Recall that $|t| \leq \frac{\pi}{n}$. By (2.18) and (2.19)

$$\frac{2\omega - (n-1)}{2} \le |P_f - P_g| = \frac{n|t|}{2\pi} \le \frac{1}{2}.$$

The preceding inequality with the help of Item (2) and Item (3) of Lemma 2.6 yields that the trinomial $g \notin \Omega_n$, which is a contradiction. This finishes the proof of the necessity implication.

We continue with the proof of the sufficient implication. Assume that

$$[1: xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s}: ye^{-ins}]$$

satisfies (1) and (2) of Theorem 1.3. We show that $[1 : xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s} : ye^{-ins}] \in \Omega_n$.

We recall that Δ_0 and Γ_0 are disjoint and $\Pi_n(\Omega_n) = \Delta_0 \cup \Gamma_0$. For $[1 : x : y] \in \Gamma_0$, (1.4) in Theorem 1.1 implies that $[1 : x : y] \in \Omega_n$.

In the sequel, we assume that $[1:x:y] \in \Delta_0$. We apply Theorem 1.1 for the corresponding trinomials f and g associated to [1:x:y] and $[1:b:c] = [1:xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s}:ye^{-ins}]$,

respectively. By (2.19) we obtain $|P_f - P_g| = \frac{n|t|}{2\pi}$ and for $|t| < \frac{\pi(2\omega - n + 1)}{n}$ we have that

$$|P_f - P_g| < \frac{2\omega - (n-1)}{2}.$$

The preceding inequality with the help of Item (1) of Lemma 2.6 implies that the trinomial $g \in \Omega_n$. The proof of the necessity implication is complete.

Acknowledgements G. Barrera would like to express his gratitude to University of Helsinki, Department of Mathematics and Statistics, for all the facilities used along the realization of this work. He thanks the Faculty of Mathematics, UADY, Mexico, for the hospitality during the research visit in 2022, where partial work on this paper was undertaken. He would also like to thank the Instituto de Matemática Pura e Aplicada (IMPA), Brazil, for support and hospitality during the 2023 Post-Doctoral Summer Program, where partial work on this paper was undertaken. All authors are grateful for the invitation to the Banff BIRS-CMO online scientific activity "Real Polynomials: Counting and Stability" (2021), which motivates this paper. The authors would like to thank prof. Jonas M. Tölle (Department of Mathematics and Systems Analysis, Aalto University, Espoo, Finland) for his support on the translation of [7]. The authors are grateful to the reviewer for the thorough examination of the paper, which has lead to a significant improvement. Figures 1 and 2 were created using the open source software GeoGebra.

Author Contributions All authors have contributed equally to the paper.

Funding Open Access funding provided by University of Helsinki (including Helsinki University Central Hospital). The research of G. Barrera has been supported by the Academy of Finland, via the Matter and Materials Profi4 University Profiling Action, an Academy project (Project No. 339228) and the Finnish Centre of Excellence in Randomness and STructures (Project No. 346306). The research of W. Barrera and J. P. Navarrete has been supported by the CONACYT, "Proyecto Ciencia de Frontera" 2019–21100 via Faculty of Mathematics, UADY, México.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Appendix A. Parity Argument and Projection to the Real Case

This section contains useful properties that help us to make this manuscript more fluid.

Lemma A.1 (Parity argument for special pivots) For the open interval

$$I = (P - \omega, P + \omega)$$

with $P \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\omega > 0$ the following statements holds true.

(i) If $P \in \mathbb{Z}$, then #I is an odd positive integer.

(ii) If $P \in \{\ell/2 : \ell \text{ is an odd number}\}$, then #I is an even non-negative integer.

Proof We start with the proof of Item (i). We observe that $P + k \in (P, P + \omega)$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ if and only if $P - k \in (P - \omega, P)$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. The previous observation with the help of the hypothesis $P \in \mathbb{Z}$ implies the statement. The proof of Item (ii) is analogous. \Box

Remark A.2 In the following lemma, for convenience in the proof we introduce the following redundant inequality $2\omega \le n$ in the definition of Δ_j , j = 0, 1, as one can see along its proof.

Lemma A.3 (Projection to the real case) Let $\Pi_n : \Omega_n \to \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ be defined by

$$\Pi_n([1:b:c]) = [1:|b|:(-1)^n|c|], \tag{A.1}$$

where Ω_n is given in (1.7). Then it follows that

$$\Pi_n(\Omega_n) = \begin{cases} \Delta_0 \cup \Gamma_0 & \text{for } n \text{ being an even number,} \\ \Delta_1 \cup \Gamma_1 & \text{for } n \text{ being an odd number,} \end{cases}$$
(A.2)

where

$$\Gamma_0 = \{ [1:x:y] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} \mid 0 \le x, \ 0 \le y, \ x+y < 1 \},
 \Delta_0 = \{ [1:x:y] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} \mid 0 < x, \ 0 < y, \ 1 \le x+y, \ n-1 < 2\omega \le n \},
 \Gamma_1 = \{ [1:x:y] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} \mid 0 \le x, \ y \le 0, \ x-y < 1 \},
 \Delta_1 = \{ [1:x:y] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} \mid 0 < x, \ y < 0, \ 1 \le x-y, \ n-1 < 2\omega \le n \},$$
(A.3)

and

$$\omega := \frac{n \operatorname{arccos}\left(\frac{x^2 + y^2 - 1}{2x|y|}\right) + m \operatorname{arccos}\left(\frac{1 - x^2 + y^2}{2|y|}\right)}{2\pi}$$

Proof We show the case when *n* is an even number. The proof for the case when *n* is an odd number is analogous and we omit it.

We note that $\Pi_n([1:b:c]) = [1:|b|:|c|]$. Proposition 7.9 in [5] yields

$$\Pi_n(\Omega_n) \subset \{[1:x:y] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} : 0 \le x, \ 0 \le y\} \cap \Omega_n.$$

Moreover, since Π_n restricted to the set $\{[1 : x : y] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} : 0 \le x, 0 \le y\} \cap \Omega_n$ is the identity map, we have that

$$\Pi_n(\Omega_n) = \{ [1:x:y] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} : 0 \le x, \ 0 \le y \} \cap \Omega_n.$$

Now, we show $[1 : x : y] \in \prod_n (\Omega_n)$ and 1, x and y are the sides lengths of some triangle (it may be degenerate) if and only if $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_0$.

Let $[1: x: y] \in \prod_n(\Omega_n)$ and assume that there exists a triangle with side lengths 1, *x*, *y* then

$$0 < x, \quad 0 < y \quad \text{and} \quad 1 \le x + y.$$

Theorem 1.1 with the help of the Law of Cosines implies that #I = n, where $I = (P - \omega, P + \omega)$, $P = \frac{n-m}{2}$ and

$$\omega = \frac{n \arccos\left(\frac{x^2 + y^2 - 1}{2xy}\right) + m \arccos\left(\frac{1 - x^2 + y^2}{2y}\right)}{2\pi}$$

By Lemma 2.1 we have that $n - 1 < 2\omega < n + 1$. We claim that $n - 1 < 2\omega \le n$. Otherwise, Theorem 1.1, Lemma 2.3 Item (iii) and Lemma 2.6 Item (3) imply the existence of a trinomial equation of degree *n* associated to $[1 : xe^{it} : y]$ with $\frac{\pi}{n}(n + 1 - 2\omega) < |t| \le \frac{\pi}{n}$ having n + 1roots, which is an absurd. Therefore, $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_0$.

D Springer

Conversely, assume that $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_0$. By Remark 1.6 there exists a triangle with side lengths equal to 1, x and y. Hence, Theorem 1.1, Item (ii) of Lemma A.1 in Appendix A, and Item (i) and Item (ii) of Lemma 2.3 imply that

$$[1:x:y] \in \Omega_n \cap \{[1:x:y] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}} : 0 \le x, 0 \le y\}.$$

Finally, applying the third inequality of (1.4) in Theorem 1.1 we have that $[1 : x : y] \in \Pi_n(\Omega_n)$ and hence we deduce that there is no triangle with length sides 1, x and y if and only if $[1 : x : y] \in \Gamma_0$. The proof is complete.

A.1. Proof of Corollary 1.14

For (n, m), with *n* being an even positive integer. Since gcd(n, m) = 1, we have that *m* is an odd integer. By (1.8) we have that x > 0 and y > 0. We observe the following

(1) for any $[1:x:y] \in \Delta_0 \cup \Gamma_0$ the choice t = 0 and $s = \pi$ yields

$$[1:-x:y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$$

(2) for any $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_0$ the choice $t = \pi/n$ and $s = k\pi/n$ with k being an odd integer on 0 < k < 2n such that $e^{i\pi/n} = e^{i(n-m)k\pi/n}$ implies

$$[1:x:-y]\in\Omega_n\cap\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

Such k exists due to gcd(n - m, 2n) = 1.

(3) By Item (2) we know that $[1:x:-y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ whenever $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_0$. We note that the choice t = 0 and $s = \pi$ gives

$$[1: -x: -y] = [1: xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s}: (-y)e^{-ins}] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$$

when $[1: x: y] \in \Gamma_0$.

(4) We now note that if [1 : x : y] ∈ Δ₀ then [1 : x : -y] ∉ Ω_n ∩ ℙ²_ℝ. Indeed, since [1 : x : y] ∈ Δ₀ we know that there exists a triangle (it may be degenerate) with side lengths 1, x = |x| > 0 and y = |y| > 0. Recall that n is an even number. By (1.10) we have that corresponding pivot P for the point [1 : x : -y] is an integer number and then Item (i) in Lemma A.1 in Appendix A yields that any non-empty open interval centered at P contains an odd number of integers. Hence, [1 : x : -y] ∉ Ω_n ∩ ℙ²_ℝ. Similarly, we deduce that [1 : -x : -y] ∉ Ω_n ∩ ℙ²_ℝ whenever [1 : x : y] ∈ Δ₀.

Now, we consider *n* be an odd positive integer. In the sequel, we assume that *m* is an even number and recall that gcd(n, m) = 1. Then we have that n - m is an odd integer. By (1.8) we have that x > 0 and y < 0. We observe the following:

(i) For any $[1:x:y] \in \Delta_1 \cup \Gamma_1$ the choice t = 0 and $s = \pi$ yields

$$[1:-x:-y]\in\Omega_n\cap\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

(ii) For any $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_1$ the choice $t = \pi/n$ and $s = k\pi/n$ with k being an odd integer on 0 < k < 2n such that $e^{i\pi/n} = e^{i(n-m)k\pi/n}$ implies

$$[1:x:-y]\in\Omega_n\cap\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}^n}$$

Such k exists due to gcd(n - m, 2n) = 1.

(iii) By Item (ii) we know that $[1:x:-y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ whenever $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_1$. We note that the choice t = 0 and $s = \pi$ gives

$$[1: -x: y] = [1: xe^{it}e^{-i(n-m)s}: (-y)e^{-ins}] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

(iv) We now note that if $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_1$ then $[1 : x : -y] \notin \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$. Indeed, since $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_1$ we know that there exists a triangle (it may be degenerate) with side lengths 1, x = |x| > 0 and -y = |y| > 0. Recall that *n* is an odd integer, *m* is an even integer and (n-m)/2 is not integer. By (1.10) we have that corresponding pivot *P* for the point [1 : x : -y] is (n - m)/2 and then Item (ii) in Lemma A.1 in Appendix A yields that any non-empty open interval centered at *P* contains an even number of integers. Hence, $[1 : x : -y] \notin \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$. Similarly, we deduce that $[1 : -x : y] \notin \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ whenever $[1 : x : y] \in \Delta_1$.

Finally, we consider *n* be an odd positive integer. In the sequel, we assume that *m* is an odd number and recall that gcd(n, m) = 1. Then we have that n - m is an even integer. By (1.8) we have that x > 0 and y < 0. We observe the following:

(a) For any $[1:x:y] \in \Delta_1 \cup \Gamma_1$ the choice t = 0 and $s = \pi$ yields

$$[1:x:-y]\in\Omega_n\cap\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

- (b) By the choice t = 0 and $s = \pi$ we note that $[1 : -x : y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$ if and only if $[1 : -x : -y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}$.
- (c) For any $[1:x:y] \in \Gamma_1$ the choice $t = \pi/n$ and $s = k\pi/n$ with k being an integer on 0 < k < n such that $-e^{i\pi/n} = e^{i(n+1)\pi/n} = e^{i(n-m)k\pi/n}$ implies

$$[1:-x:(-1)^k y] \in \Omega_n \cap \mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

Such k exists due to gcd(n - m, n) = 1. By Item (b) we conclude that

$$[1:-x:\pm y]\in\Omega_n\cap\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

(d) We now note that if [1 : x : y] ∈ Δ₁ then [1 : -x : y] ∉ Ω_n ∩ ℙ_ℝ². Indeed, since [1 : x : y] ∈ Δ₁ we know that there exists a triangle (it may be degenerate) with side lengths 1, x = |x| > 0 and -y = |y| > 0. Recall that n and m are odd integers and n - m is an even integer. By (1.10) we have that corresponding pivot P for the point [1 : -x : y] is n/2 and then Item (ii) in Lemma A.1 in Appendix A yields that any non-empty open interval centered at P contains an even number of integers. Hence, [1 : -x : y] ∉ Ω_n ∩ ℙ_ℝ². Similarly, we deduce that [1 : -x : -y] ∉ Ω_n ∩ ℙ_ℝ² whenever [1 : x : y] ∈ Δ₁.

Appendix B. Bohl's Theorem

In this section, we stress the equivalence, under the assumption that n and m are coprime numbers, of Theorem 1.1 with the original statement of Bohl's Theorem [7], which for completeness of the presentation we state it below with its original notation.

Theorem B.1 (Bohl's Theorem [7]) *The number of roots of* (1.2), *that have modulus strictly smaller than the positive number r, are obtained by taking the* τ *-multiple of a number* ζ *, where* $\tau = gcd(n, m)$ *and* ζ *can be determined as follows:*

I. If any of the quantities $|a|r^n$, $|b|r^m$, |c| is strictly smaller than the sum of the other two, then they constitute a triangle, such that the sides are proportional to the preceding quantities. Let ω_1 and ω_2 denote the two angles which are opposite to $|a|r^n$ and $|b|r^m$, respectively. Then ζ is given by the number of integers, which lie between

$$\frac{n(\beta - \gamma + \pi) - m(\alpha - \gamma + \pi)}{2\tau\pi} - \frac{n\omega_1 + m\omega_2}{2\tau\pi}$$
(B.1)

and

$$\frac{n(\beta - \gamma + \pi) - m(\alpha - \gamma + \pi)}{2\tau\pi} + \frac{n\omega_1 + m\omega_2}{2\tau\pi},$$
 (B.2)

where α , β , γ are the arguments of a, b, c, respectively.

- II. One of the three quantities $|a|r^n$, $|b|r^m$ and |c| is greater or equal to the sum of the other two. If we exclude the exceptional cases (a) and (b) mentioned below, we have that
 - II.1 if $|c| \ge |a|r^n + |b|r^m$, then $\zeta = 0$, II.2 if $|b|r^m \ge |a|r^n + |c|$, then $\zeta = \frac{m}{\tau}$, II.3 if $|a|r^n \ge |b|r^m + |c|$, then $\zeta = \frac{n}{\tau}$.

The following exceptional cases occur:

(a) If $|b|r^m = |a|r^n + |c|$ and $r^{n-m} \le \frac{m|b|}{n|a|}$ hold true and additionally

$$\frac{1}{\tau} \left(\frac{n(\beta - \gamma) - m(\alpha - \gamma)}{\pi} + n \right) \quad is \text{ an even integer}, \tag{B.3}$$

then
$$\zeta = \frac{m}{\tau} - 1$$

(b) If
$$|a|r^n = |b|r^m + |c|$$
 holds true and additionally

$$\frac{1}{\tau} \left(\frac{n(\beta - \gamma) - m(\alpha - \gamma)}{\pi} - m \right) \quad is \text{ an even integer}, \tag{B.4}$$

then
$$\zeta = \frac{n}{\tau} - 1$$
.

In the sequel, we stress that the counting procedure provided in Theorem 1.1 has already taken in account the exceptions (a) and (b) given in Theorem B.1.

We start noticing that since we assume $\tau = \text{gcd}(n, m) = 1$, the numbers $P - \omega(r)$ and $P + \omega(r)$ defined in (1.3) are equal to (B.1) and (B.2), respectively.

Now, we discuss the exceptional case (a). By Descartes' rule of signs, there are at most two distinct positive real roots of the equation $|b|x^m = |a|x^n + |c|$. We denote by r_1 and r_2 such roots and without loss of generality we assume that $0 < r_1 \le r_2$. Moreover, $r_1^{n-m} \le \frac{m|b|}{n|a|} \le r_2^{n-m}$, see [7], pp. 560–561.

Suppose that $r_1^{n-m} \leq \frac{m|b|}{n|a|}$. Since $|b|r_1^m = |a|r_1^n + |c|$, there is a degenerate triangle with side lengths $|a|r_1^n$, $|b|r_1^m$, |c| and the angles opposite to $|a|r_1^n$ and $|b|r_1^m$ are given by $\omega_1 = 0$ and $\omega_2 = \pi$, respectively. Hence, $\omega(r_1) = \frac{m}{2}$ and the length of the interval $(P - \omega(r_1), P + \omega(r_1))$ is equal to $2\omega(r_1) = m$. By (B.3), we have that

$$P + \omega(r_1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{n(\beta - \gamma) - m(\alpha - \gamma)}{\pi} + n \right)$$
 is an integer,

which together with $2\omega(r_1) = m$ implies that $P - \omega(r_1)$ is also an integer. Therefore, the number of integers contained in the interval $(P - \omega(r_1), P + \omega(r_1))$ is equal to m - 1. As a

consequence, when $r_1^{n-m} \le \frac{m|b|}{n|a|}$, the counting procedure given in Theorem 1.1 agrees with the conclusion of Item (a).

Now, we remark that when $\frac{m|b|}{n|a|} < r_2^{n-m}$ and $P + \omega(r_2)$ is an integer, Theorem 1.1 and Theorem B.1 state that $\zeta = m$.

In the sequel, we analyze the exceptional case (b). Analogously to the case (a), there is a unique positive root of the equation $|a|x^n = |b|x^m + |c|$, and we denote such root by r_0 . Hence, there is a degenerate triangle with side lengths $|a|r_0^n$, $|b|r_0^m$, |c| and the angles opposite to $|a|r_0^n$ and $|b|r_0^m$ are given by $\omega_1 = \pi$ and $\omega_2 = 0$, respectively. Hence, $\omega(r_0) = \frac{n}{2}$ and the length of the interval $(P - \omega(r_0), P + \omega(r_0))$ is equal to $2\omega(r_0) = n$. By (B.4) we have

$$P - \omega(r_0) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{n(\beta - \gamma) - m(\alpha - \gamma)}{\pi} - m \right) \text{ is an integer}$$

which yields that $P + \omega(r_0)$ is an integer. Therefore, the number of integers contained in the interval $(P - \omega(r_0), P + \omega(r_0))$ is equal to n - 1. In summary, the statement of Item (b) of Theorem B.1 agrees with the counting given in Theorem 1.1.

References

- Aguirre-Hernández, B., Frías-Armenta, M.E., Muciño-Raymundo, J.: Geometry and dynamics of the Schur-Cohn stability algorithm for one variable polynomials. Math. Control Signals Syst. 31(4), 545–587 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00498-019-00245-8
- Ahn, Y.J., Kim, S.H.: Zeros of certain trinomial equations. Math. Inequal. Appl. 9(2), 225–232 (2006). https://doi.org/10.7153/mia-09-23
- Aziz, A., Rather, N.: Location of the zeros of trinomials and quadrinomials. Math. Inequal. Appl. 17(3), 823–829 (2014). https://doi.org/10.7153/mia-17-60
- Barrera, W., Cano, A., García, R., Navarrete, J.P.: Chains homotopy in the complement of a knot in the sphere S³. Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 50(4), 971–997 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00574-019-00136-1
- Barrera, W., Magaña, J.C., Navarrete, J.P.: Trinomials, torus knots and chains. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. (2023). https://doi.org/10.1090/tran/8834
- Belkić, D.: All the trinomial roots, their powers and logarithms from the Lambert series, Bell polynomials and Fox–Wright function: illustration for genome multiplicity in survival of irradiated cells. J. Math. Chem. 57(1), 59–106 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10910-018-0985-3
- Bohl, P.: Zur theorie der trinomischen gleichungen. Math. Ann. 65(4), 556–566 (1908). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF01451170
- Borwein, P., Erdélyi, T.: Polynomials and polynomial inequalities. Graduate texts in mathematics, vol. 161. Springer-Verlag, New York (1995). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-0793-1
- Botta, V., da Silva, J.: On the behavior of roots of trinomial equations. Acta Math. Hung. 157(1), 54–62 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10474-018-0896-6
- Brilleslyper, M., Schaubroeck, L.: Counting interior roots of trinomials. Math. Mag. 91(2), 142–150 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1080/0025570X.2017.1420332
- Brilleslyper, M., Schaubroeck, L.: Locating unimodular roots. Coll. Math. J. 45(3), 162–168 (2014). https://doi.org/10.4169/college.math.j.45.3.162
- Čermák, J.: Stability conditions for linear delay difference equations: a survey and perspective. Tatra Mt. Math. Publ. 63, 1–29 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1515/tmmp-2015-0017
- Čermák, J., Fedorková, L., Kureš, M.: Complete classification scheme for the distribution of trinomial zeros with respect to their moduli. Publ. Math. Debr. 101(1–2), 119–146 (2022). https://doi.org/10.5486/ pmd.2022.9209
- Čermák, J., Fedorková, L.: On a nearly forgotten polynomial result by P. Bohl. Am. Math. Mon. 130(2), 176–181 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1080/00029890.2022.2144090
- Čermák, J., Jánský, J.: Explicit stability conditions for a linear trinomial delay difference equation. Appl. Math. Lett. 43, 56–60 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aml.2014.11.014
- Čermák, J., Jánský, J.: Stability switches in linear delay difference equations. Appl. Math. Comput. 243, 755–766 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2014.06.065

- Čermák, J., Jánský, J., Matsunaga, H.: On stability and stabilization of some discrete dynamical systems. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 41(10), 3684–3695 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1002/mma.4855
- Čermák, J., Jánský, J., Nechvátal, L.: Exact versus discretized stability regions for a linear delay differential equation. Appl. Math. Comput. 347, 712–722 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amc.2018.11.026
- Cheng, S., Huang, S.: Alternate derivations of the stability region of a difference equation with two delays. Appl. Math. E-Notes 9, 225–253 (2009)
- Clark, C.: A delayed-recruitment model of population dynamics, with an application to baleen whale populations. J. Math. Biol. 3(3–4), 381–391 (1976). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00275067
- Cohn, A.: Über die anzahl der wurzeln einer algebraischen gleichung in einem Kreise. Math. Z. 14(1), 110–148 (1922). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01215894. (In German)
- 22. Dannan, F.: The asymptotic stability of $x(n + k) + ax(n) + bx(n \ell) = 0$. J. Differ. Equ. Appl. **10**(6), 589–599 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1080/10236190410001685058
- Dannan, F., Elaydi, S.: Asymptotic stability of linear difference equations of advanced type. J. Comput. Anal. Appl. 6(2), 173–187 (2004)
- Darling, H.: On the trinomial quintic. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 2(23), 383–395 (1924). https://doi.org/10. 1112/plms/s2-23.1.383
- da Silva, A., Sri Ranga, A.: Polynomials generated by a three term recurrence relation: bounds for complex zeros. Linear Algebra Appl. 397, 299–324 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.laa.2004.11.005
- Dilcher, K., Nulton, J., Stolarsky, K.: The zeros of a certain family of trinomials. Glasg. Math. J. 34(1), 55–74 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1017/S0017089500008545
- Eagle, A.: Series for all the roots of a trinomial equation. Am. Math. Mon. 46(7), 422–425 (1939). https:// doi.org/10.1080/00029890.1939.11998893
- 28. Egerváry, J.: A trinom egyenletröl. Mat. Fiz. Lapok 37, 36–57 (1930). (in Hungarian)
- Elaydi, S.: An introduction to difference equations. Undergraduate texts in mathematics, 3rd edn. Springer, New York (2005). https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-27602-5
- Fell, H.: The geometry of zeros of trinomial equations. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 29(2), 303–336 (1980). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02849349
- Ferrer, J., García, D., Maestre, M., Muñoz, G., Rodríguez, D., Seoane, J.: Geometry of the unit sphere in polynomial spaces. Springer briefs in mathematics. Springer, Cham (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-23676-1
- Geleta, H.L., Alemu, O.A.: Location of the zeros of certain complex-valued harmonic polynomials. J. Math. 2022(4886522), 5 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/4886522
- Guo, S., Tang, X., Huang, L.: Stability and bifurcation in a discrete system of two neurons with delays. Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl. 9(4), 1323–1335 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nonrwa.2007.03. 002
- Hall, N.: The solution of the trinomial equation in infinite series by the method of iteration. Natl. Math. Mag. 15(5), 219–220 (1941). https://doi.org/10.2307/3028721
- 35. Hanov, B.: Kinematic solution of a trinomial equation. Trav. Inst. Math. Stekloff 20, 131–133 (1947)
- Hernane, M.O., Nicolas, J.L.: Localisation de zéros de familles de trinômes. Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. 8(3), 471–490 (1999)
- Howell, R., Kyle, D.: Locating trinomial zeros. Involve 11(4), 711–720 (2018). https://doi.org/10.2140/ involve.2018.11.711
- Jain, V.: Generalization of a result on the roots of a trinomial equation. Bull. Math. Soc. Sci. Math. Roum. (N.S.) 46(94)(3-4) 143–147 (2003). https://www.jstor.org/stable/43678929
- Jerri, A.: Linear difference equations with discrete transform methods. Mathematics and its applications, vol. 363. Springer Science & Business Media, Dordrecht (1996). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-5657-9
- Jiménez-Rodríguez, P., Muñoz-Fernández, G., Rodríguez-Vidanes, D.: Geometry of spaces of homogeneous trinomials on ℝ². Banach J. Math. Anal. 15(4), 22 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s43037-021-00144-8
- Kaslik, E., Balint, St.: Bifurcation analysis for a two-dimensional delayed discrete-time Hopfield neural network. Chaos Solitons Fractals 34(4), 1245–1253 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2006.03.107
- Kasten, V.: On close-to-convex trinomials. Arch. Math. (Basel) 44(1), 65–72 (1985). https://doi.org/10. 1007/BF01193782
- Kennedy, E.: Bounds for the roots of a trinomial equation. Am. Math. Mon. 47(7), 468–470 (1940). https://doi.org/10.1080/00029890.1940.11991003
- Kipnis, M., Malygina, V.: The stability cone for a matrix delay difference equation. Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 2011, 860326 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/860326

- Kipnis, M., Nigmatullin, R.: Stability of the trinomial linear difference equations with two delays. Avtomat. i Telemekh./Autom. Remote Control 65(11), 1710–1723 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1023/B: AURC.0000047886.46498.79
- Kuruklis, S.: The asymptotic stability of x_{n+1} ax_n + bx_{n-k} = 0. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 188(3), 719–731 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1006/jmaa.1994.1457
- Levin, S., May, R.: A note on difference-delay equations. Theor. Popul. Biol. 9(2), 178–187 (1976). https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-5809(76)90043-5
- Marden, M.: Geometry of polynomials. Mathematical surveys and monographs, vol. 3, pp. 1–243. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1949)
- Marques, D., Trojovský, P.: On the location of roots of the characteristic polynomial of (*p*, *q*)-distance Fibonacci sequences. Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 53(4), 1231–1244 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00574-022-00301-z
- Matsunaga, H., Hajiri, C.: Exact stability sets for a linear difference system with diagonal delay. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 369(2), 616–622 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmaa.2010.03.062
- Melman, A.: Geometry of polynomials. Pac. J. Math. 259(1), 141–159 (2012). https://doi.org/10.2140/ pjm.2012.259.141
- Mickens, R.: Difference equations-theory, applications and advanced topics. Monographs and research notes in mathematics, 3rd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2018)
- Muñoz-Fernández, G., Seoane-Sepúlveda, J.: Geometry of Banach spaces of trinomials. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 340(2), 1069–1087 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmaa.2007.09.010
- Nekrassoff, P.: Ueber trinomische Gleichungen. Math. Ann. 29(3), 413–430 (1887). https://doi.org/10. 1007/BF01447732
- Nulton, J., Stolarsky, K.: Zeros of certain trinomials. C. R. Math. Rep. Acad. Sci. Can. 6(5), 243–248 (1984)
- Otto, C., Günter, L.: Power series and zeroes of trinomial equations. Aequ. Math. 43(1), 94–102 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01840478
- Pan, V.: Solving a polynomial equation: some history and recent progress. SIAM Rev. 39(2), 187–220 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1137/S0036144595288554
- Papanicolaou, V.: On the asymptotic stability of a class of linear difference equations. Math. Mag. 69(1), 34–43 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1080/0025570X.1996.11996377
- Prasolov, V.: Polynomials. Translated from the 2001 Russian second edition by Dimitry Leites. In: Polynomials, algorithms and computation in mathematics, vol. 11. Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2004). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-03980-5_1
- Privault, N.: Understanding Markov chains. Examples and applications. Springer undergraduate mathematics series. Springer, Singapore (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-0659-4
- Ren, H.: Stability analysis of second order delay difference equations. Funkcial. Ekvac. 50(3), 405–419 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1619/fesi.50.405
- 62. Scoupas, J.: On Landau's theorem for the trinomial equation. Math. Balk. 3, 449-452 (1973)
- Szabó, P.: On the roots of the trinomial equation. Cent. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 18(1), 97–104 (2010). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10100-009-0130-2
- Theobald, T., de Wolff, T.: Norms of roots of trinomials. Math. Ann. 366(1–2), 219–247 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00208-015-1323-8
- Uahabi, K., Zaoui, M.: Résolution des équations trinomiales. Ann. Sci. Math. Québec 28(1–2), 189–197 (2004)
- Vassilev, P.: On one trinomial equation and its solution. Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math. (Kyungshang) 20(4), 489–497 (2010)
- Wang, F.: Proof of a series solution for Euler's trinomial equation. ACM Commun. Comput. Algebra 50(4), 136–144 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1145/3055282.3055284

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.